
TOWN OF STRATHAM
INCORPORATED 1716

10 BUNKER HILL AVENUEE STRATHAM NH 03885

VOICE (603) 772-7391 1 FAX (603) 775-0517

The Select Board reserves the right to take up business in any order deemed appropriate by the Chair.  A motion to 
enter Non-Public Session in accordance with RSA 91-A:3 may occur at any time during the meeting.  Submission of 
items to be placed on the Agenda must be to the Town Administrator by 4 pm the Wednesday before the scheduled 
meeting.

SELECT BOARD AGENDA
JANUARY 3, 2022

7:00 P.M.

Hutton Room, Stratham Municipal Center
10 Bunker Hill Avenue, Stratham, NH 03885

This meeting of the Select Board will be held in the Hutton Room of the Stratham Municipal 
Center

The public may access this meeting at the date and time above using this conference call 
information.  Please dial the conference number (877) 205 7349 and input 2254 when 
prompted for a user pin/code.

If at any time during the meeting you have difficulty hearing the proceedings, please e-mail 
dmoore@strathamnh.gov.

To access materials related to this meeting, please see this link:  
https://www.strathamnh.gov/select-board

I. Call to order

II. Roll Call

III. Consideration of Minutes – December 20, 2021

IV. Treasurer Report (first meeting of the month)

V. Department Reports & Presentations
A.  Police Dept. – Police Chief Anthony King

VI. Correspondence

VII. Public Comment

VIII. Public Hearings, Ordinances and/or Resolutions



TOWN OF STRATHAM
INCORPORATED 1716

10 BUNKER HILL AVENUEE STRATHAM NH 03885

VOICE (603) 772-7391 1 FAX (603) 775-0517

IX. Discussion of Monthly Reports – (second meeting of the Month)

X. New Business and Action Items
A.  Budget Schedule Discussion
B.  Boards and Commissions vacancies
C.  Boards and Commissions Attendance Summary for 2021
D.  Lindt Request for Bond Release
E.  Assessing abatement for Map 10, Lot 148, Sub 6

XI. Town Administrator Report

XII. Informational Items
A.  Rockingham Planning Commission Report on Housing
B.  2022 Payroll Calendar

XIII. Reservations, Event Requests & Permits
A.  

XIV. Review of Recent or Upcoming Board & Commissions Agendas

XV. Boards and Commissions Nominations & Appointments

A. Appointments for consideration: none for this meeting
B. Appointments to be voted on:  none for this meeting

XVI. Miscellaneous & Old Business
A.  PFAS in Town Center
B.  Open Items Tracking

XVII. Adjournment



MINUTES OF THE DECEMBER 20, 2021 SELECT BOARD MEETING 
Meeting held in the Hutton Room at the Stratham Municipal Center 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Board Members Vice Chair Joe Lovejoy and Allison Knab.  Chair 
Mike Houghton was absent. 
 
ALSO PRESENT:  Town Administrator David Moore, Finance Administrator Christiane 
McAllister, Fire Chief Matt Larrabee, Code Enforcement/Building Inspector/Health Officer Jim 
Marchese 
 
At 7:00 pm Mr. Lovejoy opened the regular meeting.   
 
Ms. Knab motioned to accept the minutes from the December 6 Select Board meeting.  Mr. 
Lovejoy seconded the motion.  All voted in favor. 
 
FIRE DEPT. 
Fire Chief Matt Larrabee reported that calls are up 30% over this time last year; a record 
increase;  he noted this represents a significant increase over the last pre-covid year of 2019.  The 
current staffing model has been working.  The department will be making its annual Capital 
Reserve request at Town Meeting.  This year’s request will be to purchase a new ambulance to 
replace the A-2.  It is preferable to choose a matching ambulance to the A-1 to maintain 
continuity of location of equipment.  To better plan for the future, Chief Larrabee is including 
large ticket items in to the Capital Reserve – a SCBA air compressor, which fills up the air 
bottles, and a gear washer.  Both working fine now, but we should set aside the money if and 
when we need to make these big purchases.  Currently, Chief Larrabee is involved in working 
with the Lindt Safety Manager, our Police Dept. and Town staff on compliance with life safety 
features of the Lindt building.  Chief Larrabee reported that we have EMTs participating in the 
State’s booster blitz vaccination clinic.  DHHS reimburses us for this work.  Chief Larrabee 
noted the Lights 4 Lives event was last night, the golf tournament in October was successful and 
they are making plans for the 2022 tournament.  Next, Chief Larrabee described some changes to 
the AV system in the Emergency Operations Center that would make it more user friendly.  He 
would like to see these changes implemented soon.  He reported that Colette Poisson has been 
promoted to EMS Lieutenant and Chris Heal has been promoted to Fire Lieutenant.  The group 
briefly discussed the timing of the CIP and Capital Reserve purchases.  The ambulance is out of 
the ambulance account so it will not affect taxes.  Ms. McAllister requested an updated staffing 
roster from him.   
 
CODE ENFORCEMENT/BUILDING INSPECTION 
Mr. Lovejoy recognized Code Enforcement/Building Inspector/Health Officer Jim Marchese to 
give his department report.  Mr. Marchese praised the work of prior inspector, Shanti Wolph, and 
the Building Coordinator Denise Lemire.  He is working on getting his DHHS Health Inspector 
approval.  There was discussion about getting a medical doctor as an additional deputy health 
officer.  He will work on this.  Mr. Marchese reported that 275 Portsmouth Ave. has occupants 
which has been approved by the Planning Board.  He attended the Emergency Operation drill on 
the 8th.  There continues to be ongoing commercial projects:  Lindt, Stony Brook, ATM at 20 
Portsmouth Ave.  Larger scale projects are winding down.  There are 7 homes waiting for 



Select Board Meeting December 20, 2021 Page 2 of 4

Occupancy Permits.  He reported a decline in what the department has brought in but feels that is 
probably Covid related.  Improving public awareness is a goal of his.  He plans to post building 
permits monthly in a public place.  He is looking forward to working with the new permitting 
software 

Mr. Lovejoy noted the automobile registrations have increased this year.  

ACTION ITEMS
Mr. Lovejoy called attention to the Dec. 15 memo from Town Planner Mark Connors requesting 
a partial bond release for the 104 Portsmouth Ave project (NHSPCA).  Mr. Lovejoy motioned to 
release $56,566 as requested, leaving a $35,746 balance.  Ms. Knab seconded the motion.  All 
voted in favor.

Mr. Lovejoy turned to the agenda item regarding Emergency Planning.  Mr. Moore explained 
that we put out a request for volunteers in the newsletter and five people responded.  In January 
we hope to do an orientation presentation.  Another matter that needs attention, we need to train 
staff on the web EOC, which is a web based software utilized by the state to keep the local EOCs 
informed.  We added Jim Marchese, Deb Bakie and Nate Mears to the Emergency Management 
team.  It is recommended to have Select Board members at the next two drills on Feb. 9 and 
April 6.  

Next, Mr. Lovejoy called attention to PFAS long term planning.  Mr. Moore said we are working 
with DES on PFAS mitigation grant funds.  The other part of PFAS planning is a contract with 
Wilcox & Barton to be our engineers that will collect monitoring samples, home samples and 
report on a quarterly and annual basis with the State of NH.  We are also under contract with 
Underwood Engineers for a 100% funded grant study on PFAS alternatives.  They discussed the 
merits of investigating water quality issues facing well owners and the possibility of the State
becoming engaged to a greater extent.  The group continued to talk about recommended tasks 
and other funding grants.  Pursuing this matter would call attention to water quality issues that 
residents may have.  Ms. Knab expressed concern about causing fear and undue stress on private 
well owners who may not have the resources to install a filtration system.  Mr. Lovejoy noted it 
might be worthwhile to establish a baseline.  Mr. Moore believes the State will offer filtration 
systems if an affected resident can show financial need.  Ms. Knab agreed to move forward with 
the study as long as there are options for people to address any issues that might arise.  The 
consensus was to move forward.

Mr. Lovejoy requested an update on budget development.  Mr. Moore reported that the 
Moderator is in the process of appointing a Budget Advisory Committee yet.  Dept. heads are 
ready to present.  Prior to the first BAC meeting, we will give them a draft CIP, draft preliminary
budget and narrative.  From an operating perspective, we are under 3%.  We don’t foresee much 
changing.  Mr. Moore explained some of the changes from last year (assessing department 
changes, fuel, etc.).  Guidance to the department heads was to keep budgets under 3%.  There 
will be no new programs.  Mr. Moore reported on the status of payroll adjustments.  
Compensation is budgeted for $75,000, which is the value of applying a 3% merit-based cost of 
living adjustment (assuming all employees received the max).  This number is based on the 5 
year average of the CPI. Ms. McAllister explained why the format of the summary of estimated 



Select Board Meeting December 20, 2021 Page 3 of 4

tax impact is different than previous years.  When you are dealing with a proposed budget, there 
are two times that those values can change before it turns into taxes.  One reason is due to a vote 
at Town Meeting, the other is when DRA gives us our final numbers for Meals & Rooms and the 
Highway Block Grant.  These factors can significantly change our revenue numbers.  Revenues
are being applied against appropriations.  On the spreadsheet, she separated actual revenues from 
estimated revenues because the numbers are going to change.  We don’t get the final numbers 
until just before the tax rate is set.  Mr. Moore said the budget continues to be refined. 

ADMINISTRATION
Mr. Moore stated that Fire Chief Matt Larrabee has recommended that we formally invest in the 
Emergency Operations Center by encumbering $5,000 of Fire Department Operating Funds from 
2021.  Mr. Moore added that the work will be done in early 2022.  Ms. Knab motioned to allow 
the Fire Dept. to encumber $5,000 in funds towards Emergency Operations Center 
improvements. Mr. Lovejoy seconded the motion.  All voted in favor.  

Mr. Moore called attention to the worksheet of Attendance for Board and Commission members.  
Performance appraisals are in and they will be ready for the Board’s review soon.  Preparations 
for the Town Report are underway.  

They discussed the start time for the BAC meetings.

Mr. Moore referred to a memo he provided to the Board as an informational item, which 
addresses the timeline of setting the tax rate in relation to the finalization of the MS-1 DRA form 
(as:sessed value of the Town and utilities). Mr. Moore in consultation with the contract 
Assessor, Finance Administrator and Town Clerk/Tax Collector have agreed on an approach that 
will create more time at the end of the year to finalize the tax rate with the state.

Next, Mr. Moore gave an Assessing work update saying the new model is working well.  He 
praised Jim Joseph’s work as both Deputy Town Clerk/Tax Collector and Assessing Assistant.  

RAFFLE PERMIT
Ms. Knab motioned to allow the CMS Music Boosters request to hold a raffle.  Mr. Lovejoy 
seconded the motion.  All voted in favor.

Mr. Lovejoy reported meeting with the Energy Commission.  Because Stratham joined an energy
aggregate, the Town realized approximately $27,000 in savings. In the future, there is the 
possibility to extend the aggregate to encompass the Town.  This will have to be voted on at a 
town meeting (not until 2023).  Towns could ban together to achieve greater savings on various 
things like solar arrays, wind power, etc.

At 8:06pm Mr. Lovejoy motioned to go into a non-public session in accordance with RSA 91-
a:3, II(a) Personnel.  Ms. Knab seconded the motion.  Roll Call:  Lovejoy – yes; Knab – yes

At 9:30 p.m. Joe Lovejoy moved to seal the minutes noting that failure to do so may render a 
proposed action ineffective.  Ms. Knab seconded the motion.  All voted in favor.



Select Board Meeting December 20, 2021 Page 4 of 4

Mr. Moore and Ms. McAllister discussed, in general, the payroll system and the transitions in the 
Finance department and the cell phone reimbursement policy.

At 9:35pm Ms. Knab motioned to adjourn.  Mr. Lovejoy seconded the motion.  All voted in 
favor.

Respectfully submitted,

Karen Richard
Recording Secretary



2020 TOWN OFFICERS*** 
 

**** This product has been created using the 2020 Town Report Roster as a base and has 
been updated with some corrections.  More updates will be forthcoming based on the 

year’s appointment activity.   
The purpose of this sheet is to assist in the planning for expiring terms. 

Italicized content represents a change from the published 2020 Town Report Roster. 
 

ELECTED POSITIONS 
 
SELECT BOARD 
 Mike Houghton, Chair term expires 2023 
 Joseph Lovejoy, Vice Chair term expires 2022 
 Allison Knab  term expires 2021 
 
MODERATOR 
 David Emanuel term expires 2022 
 Beth Dupell (appointed assistant) 
 
TOWN CLERK/TAX COLLECTOR 
 Deb Bakie, Town Clerk/Tax Collector term expires 2023 
 Jim Joseph, Deputy (appointed) 
 Tara Madden, Office Assistant 
 
SUPERVISORS OF THE CHECKLIST 
 Cathy Warner term expires 2026 
 Melanie McGrail term expires 2022 
 Connie Aubin-Adams term expires 2024 
 
TRUSTEES OF THE TRUST FUNDS 
 Diane Morgera, Chair term expires 2021 
 Mikki Deschaine term expires 2023 
 Bev Connolly term expires 2022 
 
LIBRARY TRUSTEES 
 Kate Kim, Chair term expires 2023 
 Joanne Ward term expires 2021 
 Susan Wilbur term expires 2021 
 Steve Simons term expires 2022 
 Michael Hunter term expires 2022 
 Need to add 2021 Alternate 
 Need to add 2021 Alternate 
 Lesley Kimball, Director (appointed) 
  



CEMETERY TRUSTEES 
 Colin Laverty, Chair term expires 2023 
 June Sawyer term expires 2022 
 Richard Goulet – Aug-Dec to fill unexpired term term expires 2021 
 

APPOINTED POSITIONS 
 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR 
 David S. Moore, Town Administrator 
 Tracy Abbott, Treasurer 
 Dawna Duhamel, Finance Administrator 
 Karen Richard, Executive Assistant/Welfare Coordinator 
 
CODE ENFORCEMENT/BUILDING INSPECTOR 
 Shanti Wolph, Code Enforcement Officer/Building Inspector  
 Denise Lemire, Land Use Administrative Assistant 
 Stephanie Gardner, Land Use Project Coordinator – Jan-May 
 
TOWN ASSESSOR 
 Andrea S. Lewy, Town Assessor 
 James Joseph, Assessing Assistant 
 
DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 Nathaniel Mears, Public Works Director Timothy Slager 
 Alan Williams, Foreman Charles Perkins 
 Jason Pond, Maintenance Supervisor Robert Jackson 
 Doreen Coughlin, Assistant Custodian Stewart Guay 
 
FIRE DEPARTMENT 
 Chief Matt Larrabee Lt. John Dardani 
 Deputy Chief Josh Crow Lt. Jeff Denton 
 Captain Tim Slager Lt. Rob Izzo 
 Captain Bryan Crosby 
 EMS – Captain Peggy Crosby 
 EMS – Lt. June Sawyer 
 
OFFICE OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 
 David Barr, Director 
 Timothy Copeland, Deputy Director 
 David Emanuel, Deputy Director 
 
  



POLICE DEPARTMENT 
 Chief Anthony King   
 Lt. David Pierce Off. Amanda Bibeau Off. Brian Holbrook 
 Det. Sgt. Steven Janvrin Off. Matthew Callahan Off. Corey Wynn 
 Sgt. James “Chris” Call Off. Michael Doucette  Off. Charles Law 
 Sgt. John Emerson  William Hart, Prosecutor 
    
 Support Staff:  On Call Officer: 
 Stacey Grella, Admin. Asst. – Jan – Aug. Off. Ken Gauthier 
 Katelyn Drago, Admin. Asst. – Sept. – Dec Off. Kevin O’Neil 

 
HEALTH OFFICER 
 Shanti Wolph  
 Matt Larrabee  
 
PLANNING BOARD 
 Tom House, Chair term expires 2022 
 David Canada, Vice Chair term expires 2023 
 Michael Houghton, Select Board 
 Robert Roseen term expires 2023 
 Pamela Hollasch term expires 2022 
 Joe Anderson, Alternate term expires 2023 
 Chris Zaremba, Alternate term expires 2024 
 Mark Connors, Town Planner 
 
BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 
 Drew Pierce, Chair  term expires 2022 
 Amber Dagata, Vice Chair term expires 2023 
 Charles ‘Erik’ Herring term expires 2022 

Phil Caparso, Alternate term expires 2023 
Brent Eastwood, Chair  term expires 2022 

 Richard Goulet, Alternate term expires 2022 
 
CONSERVATION COMMISSION 
 William Kenny, Chair term expires 2022 
 Kyle Saltonstall, Vice Chair Alternate term expires 2022 
 William McCarthy term expires 2024 
 Brad Jones term expires 2023 
 Allison Knab, Select Board 
 Robert Keating term expires 2023 
 Dan McAuliffe term expires 2023 
 Ana Egana, Secretary term expires 2023 
 Tim Copeland, Alternate term expires 2022 
  
 
  



RECREATION COMMISSION 
 Tracy-Lynn Abbott, Chair term expires 2023 
 Jeff Simeone, Co-Chair, Secretary term expires 2022 
 Joseph Lovejoy, Select Board 
 April Mason, Treasurer term expires 2021 
 Frank LaSorsa – Jan-Oct term expires 2023 
 Sean Kotkowski term expires 2023 
 Vacant term expires 2021 
 Kate Dardinski (appointed to fill unexpired term) term expires 2023 
 
BUDGET ADVISORY COMMITTEE 2020 
 Garrett Dolan June Sawyer 
 Beth Dupell Bruce Scamman 
 Nathan Merrill Eric von der Linden 
 
HERITAGE COMMISSION 
 Nathan Merrill, Chair term expires 2023 
 David Canada, Planning Board Rep term expires 2023 
 Mike Houghton, Select Board 
 Rebecca Mitchell term expires 2022 
 Forrest Barker, Treasurer term expires 2023 
 Tammy Hathaway, Alternate, Secretary term expires 2024 
 Florence Wiggin, Alternate term expires 2022 
 Vacant, Alternate term expires 2021 
 
PUBLIC WORKS COMMISSION 
 John Boisvert, Chair term expires 2022 
 Joseph Lovejoy, Select Board 
 Michael Girard term expires 2020 
 Jim Cushman term expires 2022 
 Phil Caparso term expires 2022 
 Frank Swift, Alternate term expires 2022 
 
ENERGY COMMISSION 
 Michael Welty, Chair term expires 2021 
 Matt O’Keefe term expires 2020 
 Michael Gorman term expires 2019 
 Mike Ream term expires 2020 
 Charles Case term expires 2021 
 Joe Van Gombos, Alternate term expires 2022 
 
STRATHAM FAIR COMMITTEE 
 Francisco Marin, Chair Matt Bartell 
 John Cushing Tim Slager 
 Caren Gallagher Shelly Blood 
 



TECHNICAL REVIEW COMMITTEE 
 Tom House, Vice Chair 
 Jeff Hyland 
 Lucy Cushman, Chair 
 Joe Johnson 
 Rebecca Mitchell, Alternate 
 Tavis Austin, Town Planner 
 
ROCKINGHAM PLANNING COMMISSION 
 Lucy Cushman 
 Joseph Johnson 
 
LAMPREY REGIONAL COOPERATIVE 
 Paul R. Deschaine 
 
SOUTHEAST WATERSHED ALLIANCE 
 Michael Girard 
 
EXETER-SQUAMSCOTT RIVER LOCAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 Nathan Merrill 
 Eric Bahr 
 
STRATHAM HILL PARK TRAIL MANAGEMENT ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 
PEDESTRIAN & CYCLIST ADVOCACY COMMITTEE 
 Andy Gilman, Co-Chair charge expires 2021 
 Pamela Hollasch charge expires 2021 
 Kate Davis charge expires 2021 
 Seth Hickey, Parks & Recreation Director  
 
 
CURBSIDE COLLECTION ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 Tim Copeland charge expired 2020 
 Rachel Jefferson charge expired 2020 
 Sophie Saltonstall charge expired 2020 
 Karen Fuller charge expired 2020 
 June Sawyer charge expired 2020 
 
 Nate Mears, D.P.W. Director Ex-officio 
 David Moore, Town Administrator Ex-Officio 
 



 TOWN OF STRATHAM  
Incorporated 1716 

10 Bunker H  
-772-4741 

-772-  
-772-  

- -  
 

TO:       David Moore, Town Administrator   
 

FROM:  Mark Connors, AICP, Town Planner  
 

DATE: December 27, 2021 
 

RE:   Conservation Commission Appointments 2022 & Attendance 2021 
 
 
The term of three Conservation Commission members come up for renewal in 2022, including 
Chair William Kenny, Vice Chair and Alternate Kyle Saltonstall, and Alternate Tim 
Copeland. Mr. Kenny was first appointed to the Commission in 2013 as an alternate, before 
being promoted to a regular member in 2017. He was re-appointed in 2019 and assumed the 
chairmanship in 2021. Mr. Saltonstall was appointed to the Commission in 2020 to an unexpired 
term. Mr. Copeland was appointed as an alternate in 2016 and re-appointed in 2019, though he 
served many years prior as the Select Board representative to the Commission. 
  
There were 10 Conservation Commission meetings in 2021. Outlined below are the rates of 
attendance of all members who served in 2021. The Town is very appreciative of the volunteer 
efforts of our Zoning Board of Adjustment members who served the community well in 2021.  
 
Member          Meetings              Meetings         Attendance      
                                                                        Present                    Absent              Rate   
 
WILLIAM KENNY, Chair                9   1  90%           
 
KYLE SALTONSTALL, Alt. Vice Chair       9   1  90%  
 
ALLISON KNAB, SB Rep.                     7   3  70%        
 
WILLIAM McCARTHY, Member               8        2  80%   
 
BRAD JONES, Member                   10   0            100% 
 
ROBERT KEATING, Member                 9   1            90% 
 
DAN McAULIFFE, Member                 7   3  70%                     
 
ANA EGANA, Secretary                 8   2  80%            
          
TIM COPELAND, Alt.          4   6  40% 
_________________________________________________________________________________________                            
 
I hope this information is helpful. Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any questions. 



 TOWN OF STRATHAM  
Incorporated 1716 

10 Bunker H  
-772-4741 

-772-  
-772-  

- -  
 

TO:       David Moore, Town Administrator   
 

FROM:  Mark Connors, AICP, Town Planner  
 

DATE: December 22, 2021 
 

RE:   Heritage Commission Appointments 2022 & Attendance 2021 
 
 
The terms of two Heritage Commission members come up for renewal in 2022, including regular 
member Rebecca Mitchell and alternate Florence Wiggin. Ms. Mitchell and Ms. Wiggin are 
two of the Town’s longest serving volunteer representatives. Ms. Mitchell has served on the 
Heritage Commission since 2006 and served as its Chair from 2007 to 2017. Ms. Wiggin, who 
began serving in 2007, has expressed a desire to step down from the Commission when her term 
expires in 2022 and the Chair is currently reaching out to potential replacements.  
  
There were 11 Heritage Commission meetings in 2021 including 10 regular meetings and one 
special meeting. Outlined below are the rates of attendance of all members who served in 2021. 
The Town is very appreciative of the volunteer efforts of our Heritage Commission members 
who served the community well in an eventful year. Please note that a special Planning Board 
meeting conflicted with the December 8, 2021 Commission meeting and prevented two members 
from attendance. That meeting was omitted from this report for the affected members.  
 
Member         Meetings      Meetings Arrived Late/ Attendance     On-time    
                                                                      Present          Absent          Left Early       Rate        Attendance 
 
NATHAN MERRILL, Chair      10  1           0         91% 100% 
 
DAVID CANADA, PB Rep.       9  1           0         90% 100% 
 
MICHAEL HOUGHTON, SB Rep.      7  3           0         70% 100% 
 
REBECCA MITCHELL, Member      11  0           0         100% 100% 
 
FORREST BARKER, Member            8  3           2         73% 75% 
 
FLORENCE WIGGIN, Alt.        6  5           0         55% 100% 
 
TAMMY HATHAWAY, Alt., Secretary      8  3           0         73% 100%          
 
JEFFREY HYLAND, Alt.*         6      2           0         75% 100% 
 
*-Appointment was not effective until April 2021.           
________________________________________________________________________________________                              
I hope this information is helpful. Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any questions. 



 TOWN OF STRATHAM  
Incorporated 1716 

10 Bunker H  
-772-4741 

-772-  
-772-  

- -  
 

TO:       David Moore, Town Administrator   
 

FROM:  Mark Connors, AICP, Town Planner  
 

DATE: December 27, 2021 
 

RE:   Zoning Board of Adjustment Appointments 2022 & Attendance 2021 
 
 
The term of one Zoning Board of Adjustment member comes up for renewal in 2022, including 
regular member Charles ‘Erik’ Herring. Mr. Herring was appointed in 2021 to the remaining 
term of .Garrett Dolan, who stepped down in 2021 with one year remaining on his term.  
  
There were 10 Zoning Board of Adjustment meetings in 2021 including nine regular meetings 
and one training. Outlined below are the rates of attendance of all members who served in 2021. 
The Town is very appreciative of the volunteer efforts of our Zoning Board of Adjustment 
members who served the community well in 2021.  
 
Member         Meetings      Meetings Arrived Late/ Attendance     On-time    
                                                                      Present          Absent          Left Early       Rate        Attendance 
 
DREW PIERCE, Chair              8  2           0         80% 100% 
 
AMBER DAGATA, Vice Chair         9  1           0         90% 100% 
 
BRUNO FEDERICO, Member              9  1           0         90% 100% 
 
RICHARD GOULET, Member              9  1           0          90% 100% 
 
CHARLES ‘ERIK’ HERRING*, Member    3  1           0          75% 100% 
 
GARRETT DOLAN, Former Member        4  1           1          80% 75% 
 
PHIL CAPARSO, Alt.                 1  9           0          10% 100% 
 
BRENT EASTWOOD*, Alt.,               2  2           0          50% 100%          
 
*-Appointments were not effective until July 2021.           
________________________________________________________________________________________                              
 
I hope this information is helpful. Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any questions. 



 TOWN OF STRATHAM  
Incorporated 1716 

10 Bunker H  
-772-4741 

-772-  
-772-  

- -  
 

TO:       David Moore, Town Administrator   
 

FROM:  Mark Connors, AICP, Town Planner  
 

DATE: December 21, 2021 
 

RE:   Planning Board Appointments 2022 & Attendance 2021 
 
 
The terms of two Planning Board members come up for renewal in 2022 including Planning 
Board Chair Thomas House and regular member Pamela Hollasch. Mr. House was first 
appointed to the Board in 2011 as an Alternate. In 2013, he was appointed as a regular member 
and re-appointed in 2016 and 2019. In 2019, he was elected Chair of the Board. Ms. Hollasch 
was first appointed to the Board in 2017 as an alternate before being appointed to a regular 
member term expiring in 2022 in 2020. 
  
There were 24 Planning Board meetings in 2021, including 21 regular meetings, two workshops, 
and one site walk. Outlined below are the rates of attendance of all members who served in 2021. 
The Town is very appreciative of the volunteer efforts of our Planning Board members who 
served the community very well in 2021. Please note that ‘On time Attendance’ is calculated as 
the share of meetings that the member attended where he or she arrived on time and stayed for 
the duration of the meeting. 
 
Member         Meetings      Meetings Arrived Late/ Attendance     On-time    
                                                                      Present          Absent          Left Early       Rate        Attendance 
 
THOMAS HOUSE, Chair      23  1           1         96% 96% 
 
DAVID CANADA, Vice Chair      19  5           1         79% 95% 
 
MICHAEL HOUGHTON, SB Rep.     22  2           0         92% 100% 
 
ROBERT ROSEEN, Member       8  16           0         33% 100%  
 
PAMELA HOLLASCH, Member     18  6           4         75% 78% 
 
JOE ANDERSON, Alt.       23  1           0          96% 100%  
 
CHRIS ZAREMBA*, Alt.      13  0           0          100% 100% 
 
*-Appointment was not effective until July 2021.           
________________________________________________________________________________________                              
 
I hope this information is helpful. Please don’t hesitate to contact me if you have any questions. 



SHP Trail Management Advisory Committee

Last Name First Name Position 21 Apr 21 24 May 21 16 Jun 21 21 Jul 21 16 Aug 21 15 Sep 21 6 Oct 21 20 Oct 21 3 Nov 17 Nov
Dardinski Kate Chair 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Weidemen Trish Sec. 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Zeller Scott 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Barker Edie 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Blood Greg 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
McCarthy Bill 1 1 1 1 1
O'Brien Kevin 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 Present
0 Absent
L Late (Time joined)



Recreation Commission

Last Name First Name Position 5 Jan 21 9 Feb 21 16 Mar 21 13 Apr 21 11 May 21 8 Jun 21 27 Jul 21 14 Sep 21 12 Oct 21 9 Nov 21 22 Nov 14 Dec 21
Abbott Tracy Chair 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Simone Jeff Sec. 1 0 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 1 1 1
Kotkowski Sean R 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Dardinski Kate 1 1 1 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1
Mason April 1 1 x x x x x x x x x x
Lovejoy Joe Sel. Rep. 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

1 Present
0 Absent
L Late (Time joined)
R Remote Call in
X Resigned



 

 

 TOWN OF STRATHAM  
Incorporated 1716 

10 Bunker Hill Avenue  Stratham, NH 03885 
Town Clerk/Tax Collector 603-772-4741 

Select Board/Administration/Assessing 603-772-7391 
Code Enforcement/Building Inspections/Planning 603-772-7391 

Fax (All Offices) 603-775-0517 
 
 

TO:       Members of the Select Board 
  David Moore, Town Administrator 
 

FROM:  Mark Connors, Town Planner  
 

DATE:  December 28, 2021 
 

RE:      Lindt Project LEGO Performance Guarantee Reduction Request 

  
 

The Town is holding a performance guarantee in the amount of $1,050,000 as a performance 
guarantee for improvements associated with the Project LEGO expansion of the Lindt & 
Sprungli manufacturing facilities at One Fine Chocolate Place in the Stratham Industrial Park. 
The site plan for the proposed improvements was approved by the Planning Board on March 18, 
2020. 

Per the approved Performance Agreement and Guarantee, this figure guarantees improvements to 
stormwater facilities, storm and sanitary sewers and manholes, and landscaping. Most of the site 
work related to these improvements has been completed. However, construction of the proposed 
truck marshalling center has not yet begun so the Town will continue to hold a security for these 
improvements, estimated at $150,000 in value. 

Lindt & Sprungli is requesting a release of $900,000. However, per the approved Performance 
Agreement, the Town must continue to hold 10% of the value of the completed improvements 
for one year. Therefore, the maximum amount that the Town can release is $810,000 or 10% of 
$900,000. Improvements related to the Truck Marshaling Center, valued at $150,000, will also 
continue to be held. A total of $240,000 will continue to be held as a security until improvements 
related to the Truck Marshaling Center are completed and one year after the completion of the 
other improvements. Staff has explained this to representatives of Lindt and they do not object 
the Town releasing a total of $810,000. 

Town staff takes no objection to the bond reduction request of $810,000. 

 

Total amount of Bond: $1,050,000 

Amount to be Released: $810,000 
Amount to be Held:   $240,000 

 

 

 



 
 
From: Shanti Wolph  
Sent: Wednesday, October 13, 2021 7:11 AM 
To: Mark Connors <mconnors@StrathamNH.gov>; Nathaniel Mears <nmears@StrathamNH.gov> 
Subject: RE: Lindt Bond Reduction 
 
Mark, 
 
Yes, I am good with this. 
 
 
Thank you, 
 
Shanti Wolph- Town of Stratham, NH  
Code Enforcement/Building Inspector/Health Officer 
603.772.7391 x. 182 
 
 
 
From: Mark Connors  
Sent: Tuesday, October 12, 2021 5:21 PM 
To: Nathaniel Mears <nmears@StrathamNH.gov>; Shanti Wolph <swolph@StrathamNH.gov> 
Subject: Lindt Bond Reduction 
 
Hi Shanti, 
 
Please find the Lindt bond reduction request attached along with the As-Builts and supporting info. If it 
looks good to you, please let me know if you are agreeable to reducing the bond amount.  
 
Thank you, 
 
Mark Connors 
Town Planner 
Town of Stratham 
mconnors@strathamnh.gov 
(603) 772-7391, x. 147 
 
New Hampshire’s Right to Know Law (RSA 91-A) provides that Town email communications regarding the business 
of the Town of Stratham are governmental records which may be available to the public upon request. Therefore, this 
email communication may be subject to public disclosure. 
 
 
 
 
 



Lindt & Sprüngli (USA), Inc. | One Fine Chocolate Place | Stratham, NH 03885 
T +1 603 778 8100 | www.lindt.com 

Project LEGO - Bond Reduction Request 

Total Bond Reduction of $900,000 

Attachment 1: Project LEGO Performance Bond – ToS agreement signed 
Attachment 2: AECOM (General Contractor Project LEGO) break-up of scope bonded 
Attachment 4: AECOM (General Contractor Project LEGO) break-up for Truck Marshalling scope 

















 

 

 



 

 

 



 



Site Work | BP 400
Construction Services

LINDT & SPRUNGLI

S.U.R. Construction, Inc.

Project Location Category Long Item Description  Short Item Description  On/Off Site  Est Qty  UOM  Unit Price  Total Amt 

Stratham, NH Base Bid Existing Detention Basin Outlet Structure Modifications 1                    LS 23,880.00$          23,880$           

Stratham, NH Base Bid Storm Sewers & Manholes 4,291             LF 202.00$               866,782$         

Stratham, NH Base Bid Sanitary Sewers & Manholes 696                LF 121.00$               84,216$           

Stratham, NH Base Bid Channels & Swales 1                    LS 30,490.00$          30,490$           

Stratham, NH Base Bid Landscape & Irrigation 1                    LS 44,470.00$          44,470$           

Stratham, NH Base Bid 1                    LS -$                 

Stratham, NH Original Total 1,049,838$      

Stratham, NH Work In Place Through February (990,298)$        

Stratham, NH Remaining Improvements to Complete as of February 28, 2021 59,540$           



 

































1

David Moore

From: Christiane McAllister
Sent: Monday, December 27, 2021 3:58 PM
To: David Moore; Deborah Bakie; Denise Lemire; Anthony J King; Cantrece Forest; Jason 

Pond; Jim Joseph; Jim Marchese; Karen Richard; Lesley Kimball; Mark Connors; Matthew 
Larrabee; Nathaniel Mears; Seth Hickey

Subject: 2022 Payroll Schedule
Attachments: 2022 Payroll Calendar.pdf

To all,

I am attaching the 2022 Payroll Calendar for reference. Please post and make available where your department
employees may take notice. The schedule also notes (***) the days when payroll submission will be due on Tuesday by
9 a.m. instead of Monday, due to a holiday.

Looking ahead, I also want to take advantage of everyone’s attention to the payroll schedule to address the concerns
about accrued time deadlines. Please note that for this 2022 payroll schedule, paid time off usage/accrual will have a
Sunday, December 25th cutoff date (pay period starts 12/12/2022 and ends 12/25/2022, and paid on 12/30/2022). End
of year vacation accruals will be calculated to December 25, 2022. The last week of the year, Monday December
26, 2022 will be the beginning of the pay period ending January 8, 2023. This will be considered the first pay period of
2023. Any paid time off used in the pay period starting December 26, 2022 will be time used from the 2023 calendar
year.

As a previous email from me indicated, the pay period ending Dec 26, 2021 that I will be processing on Tuesday and
paying on Friday Dec 31 is the cutoff for 2021 accruals. Anytime used this week (Dec 27 31, 2021) will be considered
paid time off in 2022.

Hopefully I didn’t confuse anyone toomuch. Please feel free to reach out to me if I did!

Christiane McAllister 
Finance Administrator 
Town of Stratham 
(603) 772-7391 x183 



Pay 
Period 2022 Payroll Periods

 Monday 1:00 PM; 
***Tuesday 9:00 

a.m. due to Monday 
holiday

 

PP Starts PP Ends Time Sheets Due Check Date

1 12/27/2021 1/9/2022 1/10/2022 1/14/2022

2 1/10/2022 1/23/2022 1/24/2022 1/28/2022

3 1/24/2022 2/6/2022 2/7/2022 2/11/2022

4 2/7/2022 2/20/2022 ***2/22/2022 2/25/2022

5 2/21/2022 3/6/2022 3/7/2022 3/11/2022

6 3/7/2022 3/20/2022 3/21/2022 3/25/2022 1st Qtr

7 3/21/2022 4/3/2022 4/4/2022 4/8/2022

8 4/4/2022 4/17/2022 4/18/2022 4/22/2022

9 4/18/2022 5/1/2022 5/2/2022 5/6/2022

10 5/2/2022 5/15/2022 5/16/2022 5/20/2022

11 5/16/2022 5/29/2022 ***5/31/2022 6/3/2022

12 5/30/2022 6/12/2022 6/13/2022 6/17/2022 2nd Qtr

13 6/13/2022 6/26/2022 6/27/2022 7/1/2022

14 6/27/2022 7/10/2022 7/11/2022 7/15/2022

15 7/11/2022 7/24/2022 7/25/2022 7/29/2022

16 7/25/2022 8/7/2022 8/8/2022 8/12/2022

17 8/8/2022 8/21/2022 8/22/2022 8/26/2022

18 8/22/2022 9/4/2022 ***9/6/2022 9/9/2022

19 9/5/2022 9/18/2022 9/19/2022 9/23/2022 3rd Qtr

20 9/19/2022 10/2/2022 10/3/2022 10/7/2022

21 10/3/2022 10/16/2022 10/17/2022 10/21/2022

22 10/17/2022 10/30/2022 10/31/2022 11/4/2022

23 10/31/2022 11/13/2022 11/14/2022 11/18/2022

24 11/14/2022 11/27/2022 11/28/2022 12/2/2022

25 11/28/2022 12/11/2022 12/12/2022 12/16/2022

26 12/12/2022 12/25/2022 ***12/27/2022 12/30/2022 4th Qtr

1 12/26/2022 1/8/2023 1/9/2023 1/13/2023

Town of Stratham
2022 Payroll Calendar



Save the Date!
A Regional Conversation on Housing:
Tackling the Important Issues
Friday, January 21, 2022 | 9:00 am - 11:00 am | Exeter Town Hall



     
    New Hampshire Senate
      NEWS RELEASE
      FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE: December 27, 2021

   
                 

Republican budget delivers major tax relief for NH communities
NH cities and towns receive 45% increase in Meals & Rentals revenue

CONCORD, NH -- New Hampshire municipalities are receiving a 45% increase in revenue from 
the Meals and Rentals Tax, thanks to the recently enacted Republican state budget.

   Under HB 2, the local share of revenues from the state’s tax on restaurants, hotels, and car 
rentals increased to 30%, up from 22% in the last budget. Together with strong growth in
New Hampshire’s hospitality industry, this results in more than $100 million going directly to 
local coffers to help keep local property tax rates down. In total, the New Hampshire Treasury is 
transferring $100,143,752 to cities and towns by the end of the day. That represents an 
increase of 45.5% ($32M) from Fiscal Year 2021.

    Senate President Chuck Morse (R-Salem), said, “Cutting taxes is always a priority for 
Republicans. It puts more money in working families pockets, makes living in New Hampshire
more affordable and tells businesses that New Hampshire is the place they should set up shop.
The additional $32M being sent back to our cities and towns will make a real difference, 
especially when it comes to helping to lower local property tax rates.”

   The increase in Meals and Rentals (M&R) Revenue Sharing was spearheaded by
Sen. Denise Ricciardi (R-Bedford), whose legislation was incorporated into the state budget 
package in June. “I made it my goal this past session to protect local property taxpayers by 
making certain the state kept its promise to share more of the revenues that our M&R tax 
generates. I am happy and extremely satisfied that today, our cities and towns will finally receive 
the amount they’ve been promised for so long,” said Ricciardi.

   Increased revenue sharing is just one example of how the new budget is delivering tax relief 
for Granite Staters. The balanced budget also lowered businesses taxes, began the phase out 
the Interest and Dividends Tax on seniors’ investment income, and cut $100 million from the 
Statewide Property Tax.

Note: Town-by-Town list of Rooms & Meals Revenue Sharing allocations follows.

###

Media Contact:
Carole Alfano
Communications Director
603.271.3043
carole.alfano@leg.state.nh.us



Room and Meals Revenue Sharing 
Source: NH Treasury 

Town FY21 FY22 Increase 
Acworth $45,896.66 $66,518.77 $20,622.11 
Albany $38,103.84 $55,250.56 $17,146.72 
Alexandria $83,545.07 $121,042.35 $37,497.28 
Allenstown $221,032.62 $321,107.54 $100,074.92 
Alstead $99,231.91 $144,523.84 $45,291.93 
Alton $271,281.11 $394,532.63 $123,251.52 
Amherst $586,940.80 856,238.32 $269,297.52 
Andover $120,029.62 $174,257.36 $54,227.74 
Antrim $133,894.76 $193,813.16 $59,918.40 
Ashland $106,215.08 $153,901.89 $47,686.81 
Atkinson $360,038.26 $524,662.25 $164,623.99 
Atkinson & Gilmanton Grant $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Auburn $286,057.10 $419,831.57 $133,774.47 
Barnstead $239,856.83 $349,314.41 $109,457.58 
Barrington $461,648.49 $671,585.12 $209,936.63 
Bartlett $143,559.88 $209,152.46 $65,592.58 
Bath $56,371.42 $82,439.65 $26,068.23 
Beans Grant $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Beans Purchase $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Bedford $1,164,418.89 $1,728,761.01 $564,342.12 
Belmont $372,081.70 $539,565.36 $167,483.66 
Bennington $75,347.43 $108,974.46 $33,627.03 
Benton $19,077.22 $27,552.58 $8,475.36 
Berlin $514,477.72 $727,199.17 $212,721.45 
Bethlehem $131,111.61 $192,141.10 $61,029.49 
Boscawen $204,890.36 $294,354.64 $89,464.28 
Bow $399,913.19 $582,675.34 $182,762.15 
Bradford $85,518.57 $124,313.76 $38,795.19 
Brentwood $233,278.48 $339,500.16 $106,221.68 
Bridgewater $55,966.59 $81,349.18 $25,382.59 
Bristol $158,082.86 $229,362.53 $71,279.67 
Brookfield $37,192.99 $54,887.07 $17,694.08 
Brookline $272,596.78 $398,821.82 $126,225.04 
Cambridge $455.42 $872.38 $416.96 
Campton $172,302.22 $250,735.77 $78,433.55 
Canaan $201,752.99 $292,755.28 $91,002.29 
Candia $200,740.94 $292,246.39 $91,505.45 
Canterbury $121,648.91 $177,310.69 $55,661.78 



Town FY21 FY22 Increase 
Carroll $41,393.01 $60,921.01 $19,528.00 
Center Harbor $55,207.55 $80,404.11 $25,196.56 
Chandlers Purchase $50.60 $0.00 -$50.60 
Charlestown $260,806.35 $377,812.07 $117,005.72 
Chatham $17,407.33 $25,298.94 $7,891.61 
Chester $268,093.14 $390,752.33 $122,659.19 
Chesterfield $187,483.03 $272,545.21 $85,062.18 
Chichester $133,085.12 $193,158.87 $60,073.75 
Claremont $670,283.45 $970,592.44 $300,308.99 
Clarksville $14,067.55 $20,500.87 $6,433.32 
Colebrook $117,550.09 $171,058.65 $53,508.56 
Columbia $39,419.51 $57,140.71 $17,721.20 
Concord $2,175,005.54 $3,141,212.55 $966,207.01 
Conway $516,906.65 $753,661.29 $236,754.64 
Cornish $83,696.88 $121,623.93 $37,927.05 
Crawfords Purchase $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Croydon $39,368.91 $57,431.51 $18,062.60 
Cutts Grant $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Dalton $50,653.31 $73,425.09 $22,771.78 
Danbury $60,672.65 $88,546.30 $27,873.65 
Danville $230,394.12 $338,918.58 $108,524.46 
Deerfield $235,758.01 $344,443.64 $108,685.63 
Deering $98,118.65 $142,124.80 $44,006.15 
Derry $1,682,489.40 $2,441,856.75 $759,367.35 
Dix's Grant $0.00 0 $0.00 
Dixville $151.81 $145.40 -$6.41 
Dorchester $18,318.18 $26,680.21 $8,362.03 
Dover $1,608,913.06 $2,351,929.19 $743,016.13 
Dublin $80,610.11 $117,189.35 $36,579.24 
Dummer $15,383.22 $22,100.22 $6,717.00 
Dunbarton $147,203.27 $215,259.10 $68,055.83 
Durham $813,944.54 $1,166,877.33 $352,932.79 
East Kingston $122,660.96 $178,110.36 $55,449.40 
Easton $13,763.94 $19,991.98 $6,228.04 
Eaton $21,151.93 $30,678.60 $9,526.67 
Effingham $75,802.85 $110,283.03 $34,480.18 
Ellsworth $4,351.83 $6,324.74 $1,972.91 
Enfield $238,541.16 $346,697.28 $108,156.12 
Epping $355,787.63 $522,699.40 $166,911.77 
Epsom $242,235.16 $351,713.45 $109,478.29 



Town FY21 FY22 Increase 
Errol $14,978.40 $21,736.73 $6,758.33 
Ervings Location $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Exeter $778,370.84 $1,125,948.30 $347,577.46 
Farmington $348,298.43 $506,778.51 $158,480.08 
Fitzwilliam $122,357.34 $177,383.38 $55,026.04 
Francestown $80,205.29 $116,535.07 $36,329.78 
Franconia $57,282.26 $83,457.43 $26,175.17 
Franklin $440,951.99 $636,544.63 $195,592.64 
Freedom $80,761.92 $117,116.65 $36,354.73 
Fremont $241,121.90 $350,186.79 $109,064.89 
Gilford $367,122.64 $533,240.62 $166,117.98 
Gilmanton $192,745.71 $279,524.23 $86,778.52 
Gilsum $41,797.84 $61,139.11 $19,341.27 
Goffstown $907,711.35 $1,318,016.70 $410,305.35 
Gorham $142,649.03 $206,535.32 $63,886.29 
Goshen $41,595.42 $59,467.05 $17,871.63 
Grafton $69,376.31 $100,541.48 $31,165.17 
Grantham $154,034.64 $223,473.98 $69,439.34 
Greenfield $89,921.01 $129,984.22 $40,063.21 
Greenland $209,798.82 $304,605.07 $94,806.25 
Greens Grant $50.60 $0.00 -$50.60 
Greenville $105,203.03 $152,447.93 $47,244.90 
Groton $30,867.65 $45,072.83 $14,205.18 
Hadleys Purchase $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Hale's Location $6,274.74 $11,486.30 $5,211.56 
Hampstead $442,318.26 $642,069.69 $199,751.43 
Hampton $769,515.36 $1,116,424.84 $346,909.48 
Hampton Falls $122,863.37 $178,764.65 $55,901.28 
Hancock $84,253.51 $122,496.31 $38,242.80 
Hanover $582,032.33 $819,453.07 $237,420.74 
Harrisville $48,831.61 $71,389.54 $22,557.93 
Hart's Location $2,327.72 $3,489.51 $1,161.79 
Haverhill $235,960.42 $340,445.24 $104,484.82 
Hebron $31,778.50 $46,454.09 $14,675.59 
Henniker $249,066.52 $358,619.77 $109,553.25 
Hill $55,764.18 $81,203.79 $25,439.61 
Hillsborough $303,211.42 $440,114.35 $136,902.93 
Hinsdale $205,345.78 $297,044.47 $91,698.69 
Holderness $107,834.37 $157,100.61 $49,266.24 
Hollis $402,898.75 $593,580.05 $190,681.30 



Town FY21 FY22 Increase 
Hooksett $741,329.65 $1,082,547.53 $341,217.88 
Hopkinton $289,042.66 $420,558.55 $131,515.89 
Hudson $1,291,077.46 $1,872,194.38 $581,116.92 
Jackson $42,961.70 $62,665.77 $19,704.07 
Jaffrey $274,469.08 $397,295.16 $122,826.08 
Jefferson $57,383.47 $83,312.03 $25,928.56 
Keene $1,185,570.82 $1,719,310.25 $533,739.43 
Kensington $108,593.41 $158,336.48 $49,743.07 
Kilkenny $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Kingston $315,760.89 $458,216.17 $142,455.28 
Laconia $845,520.63 $1,220,746.63 $375,226.00 
Lancaster $179,234.79 $258,659.87 $79,425.08 
Landaff $21,455.55 $31,187.49 $9,731.94 
Langdon $35,270.09 $51,252.17 $15,982.08 
Lebanon $712,435.51 $1,043,363.25 $330,927.74 
Lee $226,851.93 $330,631.00 $103,779.07 
Lempster $59,913.60 $86,946.94 $27,033.34 
Lincoln $88,453.53 $128,893.75 $40,440.22 
Lisbon $85,417.37 $123,732.18 $38,314.81 
Litchfield $436,903.77 $636,690.03 $199,786.26 
Littleton $300,529.48 $436,406.74 $135,877.26 
Livermore $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Londonderry $1,329,130.70 $1,958,923.22 $629,792.52 
Loudon $287,625.79 $420,267.76 $132,641.97 
Low & Burbanks Grant $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Lyman $27,730.28 $40,420.15 $12,689.87 
Lyme $87,492.08 $127,076.29 $39,584.21 
Lyndeborough $87,390.87 $127,003.59 $39,612.72 
Madbury $93,412.60 $135,581.97 $42,169.37 
Madison $133,995.97 $195,412.51 $61,416.54 
Manchester $5,602,326.88 $8,114,126.62 $2,511,799.74 
Marlborough $108,441.60 $157,100.61 $48,659.01 
Marlow $37,850.82 $54,959.77 $17,108.95 
Martins Location $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Mason $72,260.67 $105,484.95 $33,224.28 
Meredith $324,869.38 $470,284.06 $145,414.68 
Merrimack $1,327,663.22 $1,997,671.31 $670,008.09 
Middleton $91,692.10 $133,037.54 $41,345.44 
Milan $68,060.64 $98,505.94 $30,445.30 
Milford $809,795.12 $1,178,581.73 $368,786.61 



Town FY21 FY22 Increase 
Millsfield $1,366.27 $2,035.55 $669.28 
Milton $233,632.70 $339,209.37 $105,576.67 
Monroe $41,140.00 $59,685.15 $18,545.15 
Mont Vernon $131,617.64 $193,376.97 $61,759.33 
Moultonborough $208,938.58 $304,314.28 $95,375.70 
Nashua $4,497,163.75 $6,511,714.93 $2,014,551.18 
Nelson $37,294.19 $53,942.00 $16,647.81 
New Boston $296,380.05 $433,571.52 $137,191.47 
New Castle $48,983.42 $71,171.45 $22,188.03 
New Durham $133,641.75 $195,339.82 $61,698.07 
New Hampton $116,285.02 $170,186.27 $53,901.25 
New Ipswich $269,611.22 $394,387.24 $124,776.02 
New London $208,331.34 $305,404.75 $97,073.41 
Newbury $110,971.74 $161,462.50 $50,490.76 
Newfields $87,188.46 $126,567.41 $39,378.95 
Newington $40,482.17 $59,248.96 $18,766.79 
Newmarket $478,701.61 $696,084.38 $217,382.77 
Newport $327,905.54 $474,936.74 $147,031.20 
Newton $251,343.64 $366,034.97 $114,691.33 
North Hampton $231,861.60 $336,374.15 $104,512.55 
Northfield $247,143.62 $359,274.05 $112,130.43 
Northumberland $113,906.69 $164,006.93 $50,100.24 
Northwood $217,591.64 $317,254.54 $99,662.90 
Nottingham $260,300.32 $381,301.58 $121,001.26 
Odell $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Orange $17,053.11 $24,790.05 $7,736.94 
Orford $63,658.21 $92,253.90 $28,595.69 
Ossipee $224,473.61 $325,324.03 $100,850.42 
Pelham $710,057.18 $1,039,146.76 $329,089.58 
Pembroke $358,925.00 $519,718.77 $160,793.77 
Peterborough $339,847.78 $494,419.83 $154,572.05 
Piermont $39,976.14 $58,231.18 $18,255.04 
Pinkhams Grant $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Pittsburg $44,935.20 $65,646.39 $20,711.19 
Pittsfield $207,268.69 $300,970.17 $93,701.48 
Plainfield $123,622.41 $180,582.10 $56,959.69 
Plaistow $392,120.37 $568,862.70 $176,742.33 
Plymouth $349,715.31 $516,156.57 $166,441.26 
Portsmouth $1,123,683.71 $1,639,196.94 $515,513.23 
Randolph $15,585.63 $22,536.41 $6,950.78 



Town FY21 FY22 Increase 
Raymond $530,771.79 $773,435.17 $242,663.38 
Richmond $59,660.59 $87,528.52 $27,867.93 
Rindge $315,963.30 $462,868.85 $146,905.55 
Rochester $1,568,279.09 $2,296,678.63 $728,399.54 
Rollinsford $130,504.38 $189,742.06 $59,237.68 
Roxbury $11,335.01 $16,357.07 $5,022.06 
Rumney $75,802.85 $110,355.73 $34,552.88 
Rye $277,252.23 $402,384.03 $125,131.80 
Salem $1,515,905.29 $2,256,694.67 $740,789.38 
Salisbury $72,058.25 $105,484.95 $33,426.70 
Sanbornton $152,061.13 $220,929.55 $68,868.42 
Sandown $327,551.32 $476,826.89 $149,275.57 
Sandwich $68,667.87 $99,887.20 $31,219.33 
Sargents Purchase $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Seabrook $450,566.50 $654,210.27 $203,643.77 
Second College Grant $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Sharon $18,216.97 $26,825.60 $8,608.63 
Shelburne $19,178.43 $27,770.68 $8,592.25 
Somersworth $599,338.46 $870,269.05 $270,930.59 
South Hampton $41,797.84 $60,630.22 $18,832.38 
Springfield $68,010.04 $99,014.82 $31,004.78 
Stark $28,995.35 $42,092.20 $13,096.85 
Stewartstown $52,626.82 $76,187.62 $23,560.80 
Stoddard $64,619.66 $94,725.63 $30,105.97 
Strafford $211,468.71 $309,185.05 $97,716.34 
Stratford $38,862.88 $56,559.13 $17,696.25 
Stratham $382,505.86 $562,974.15 $180,468.29 
Success $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Sugar Hill $29,501.38 $42,891.88 $13,390.50 
Sullivan $35,371.29 $51,324.86 $15,953.57 
Sunapee $176,552.84 $257,424.00 $80,871.16 
Surry $38,458.06 $56,195.64 $17,737.58 
Sutton $95,183.69 $138,344.50 $43,160.81 
Swanzey $374,358.82 $546,253.58 $171,894.76 
Tamworth $147,658.70 $214,314.02 $66,655.32 
Temple $71,046.20 $102,358.94 $31,312.74 
Thompson & Meserves Grant $151.81 $0.00 -$151.81 
Thornton $132,123.67 $192,141.10 $60,017.43 
Tilton $185,863.74 $268,910.30 $83,046.56 
Troy $108,289.79 $156,737.12 $48,447.33 



Town FY21 FY22 Increase 
Tuftonboro $122,610.36 $178,328.46 $55,718.10 
Unity $81,217.34 $116,244.27 $35,026.93 
Wakefield $260,148.52 $378,248.26 $118,099.74 
Walpole $195,478.26 $283,740.72 $88,262.46 
Warner $147,506.89 $214,459.42 $66,952.53 
Warren $47,060.52 $68,118.13 $21,057.61 
Washington $57,838.89 $84,402.50 $26,563.61 
Waterville Valley $12,549.47 $18,174.53 $5,625.06 
Weare $452,944.83 $660,535.01 $207,590.18 
Webster $96,246.35 $140,307.35 $44,061.00 
Wentworth $46,807.50 $68,481.62 $21,674.12 
Wentworth's Location $1,265.07 $1,599.36 $334.29 
Westmoreland $88,453.53 $127,512.48 $39,058.95 
Whitefield $120,383.84 $176,365.61 $55,981.77 
Wilmot $69,983.54 $101,777.35 $31,793.81 
Wilton $189,557.74 $278,433.75 $88,876.01 
Winchester $220,071.17 $319,653.58 $99,582.41 
Windham $748,515.24 $1,093,670.34 $345,155.10 
Windsor $11,233.80 $16,429.77 $5,195.97 
Wolfeboro $319,404.29 $465,631.38 $146,227.09 
Woodstock $69,831.74 $101,486.56 $31,654.82 
Totals $68,805,057.00 $100,143,752.00 $31,338,695.00 

 



�����������	
������	
��	������

�����������������

� !"#$�%&"!��!!'$

(' �)"**

+*$,%"- �)"**!

).-/#0/ #�)- #" 1

2"3"!"3$�4- ,$5%!

6$/." 1!�7.-,$!!

8$%".$9$ %�)"**!

6-'!" 1�:55$/*!�)-/.#

8$9-%$�;$$%" 1!

7-*",<�7.-,$!!

=$>�6-'!$�)"**!

=$>�?$ /%$�)"**!

=6;:�+3$ %!

(@A+8=;+=B�:CC:�8?
4@=B:4B��=C@8;:B�@=

;/.1/.$%�;DE�)<. $!�

FG��HIJK���J���IL�

4-.#$**�:D�M-& !%- �

NLK��O��OI�PQQRJ�S�TLHOS�U

V/%&$." $�6$,W�

NLK��O��OI�XJORO���PYKJSL�

=/%,&�(.$<$!�

ZHOJ�J[RU�\��KJ��S�TLHOS�U

B"9-%&<�]D�C-.%"$.�

TL��HOJ�RIJLOS�TLL�YJORIL�

7/9�A/**$<�

PY�JOJSI�RIJK��PSSJSIROI

L̂HS��ROY�\�ORI��IL�TLOK�O�

R̂[[_�̀�a�b�R�c�

deJS�f�gJSURIJK��hHUU�IJO�[�LKJY�S�SL����L���JOQL��RIJLO�LO��JUUS�IeRI�eRK�����O�JOI�LYH��Y�QL��Ie�

�̀a�̂R�[SeJ���N�O��RU�TLH�IiS������S�SSJLO��JO�UHYJOg�R��LOIJOH�Y�UJSIJOg�LQ�RUU�Ie���JUUS�a��eRK�

JY�OIJj�Y�SL�QR��IeRI��LHUY�RQQ��I�UL�RU�gLK��O��OIk�l\���LH��2$,$90$.�mn�E$1"!*/%"3$�)'**$%" �QL��Ie�

��gJOOJOg�LQ�Ie��UJSIko�pO���Ie��U�gJSURIH�����gJOS�eLUYJOg�e�R�JOgS��Ie����aJUU����UJIIU��IJ���IL�g�I

L�gROJq�Y��SL�[U�RS��SIR�I��e��rJOg�LHI�Ie��U�gJSURIJLO���LOIR�IJOg�_LH����[��S�OIRIJK�S�ROY�S�ORIL�S�

ROY��LOIR�IJOg�̀ ẐP�aJIe�RO_�sH�SIJLOSk�

PS���OIJLO�Y�JO�Ie������������t�hHUU�IJO��Ie��̂LHS��ROY�\�ORI��aJUU��LOK�O��lS�[R�RI�U_o�LO

u�YO�SYR_��vROHR�_�w��IL���gJO�Ie�������U�gJSURIJK��S�SSJLOk�pO�IeRI�YR_�lROY��LOIJOHJOg�LO�vROHR�_

t�JO�Ie��̂LHS�o��Ie�_�aJUU�IRr��R�IJLO�LO��JUUS�Q�L�������IeRI�a������IRJO�Y�lJO�Ie��̂LHS�o�L����x

��Q����Y�lJO�Ie��\�ORI�ok�de������������t�hHUU�IJO�RUSL��LOIRJOS�R�Y�S��J[IJLO�LQ�Ie����IRJO�Yy��x

��Q����Y��JUU�[�L��SSk

vROHR�_�wz��ROg��LHS�NHO�hJUU�NL�S�IL�\�ORI�

pO��LQ�Ie��aL�SI��JUUS�SIJUU�RUJK��Q�L��URSI�_�R��JS�6)�{|}~�Ie���JUU�IeRI��RS�[RSS�Y��_�Ie��̂LHS���aLHUY

[�LeJ�JI��HOJ�J[RUJIJ�S�Q�L����gHURIJOg�Ie��YJS�eR�g��LQ�j��R��S�LO�RO_�ILaOxLaO�Y�[�L[��I_�

U�RKJOg��JIJ�S�ROY�ILaOS�[La��U�SS�IL�[��K�OI�gHOj���L��IL�[��K�OI�U�RY��LOIR�JORIJLO�LQ�Ie�J�

g�LHOYaRI��k�PQI���Ie��̂LHS��[RSS�Y�Ie���JUU�URSI�P[�JU��Ie��\�ORI��aJS�U_���x��Q����Y�JI�IL�Ie��\�ORI�

vHYJ�JR�_�TL��JII����ae����JI�SRI�HOIJU�IeJS�QRUUk�

de��vHYJ�JR�_�TL��JII���eRS�OLa����L���OY�Y�Ie���JUU�aJIe�RO�J�[L�IROI�/9$ #9$ %k�de�

R��OY��OI�Y�U�I�S�Ie��aL�Y��HS���Q�L��Ie���JUUiS�[�LeJ�JIJLOS��SL��HOJ�J[RUJIJ�S�aLHUY����[�LeJ�JI�Y

Q�L����gHURIJOg�Ie��[LSS�SSJLO�LQ�j��R��S�LO�ILaO�[�L[��I_�laeJ�e�JS�RU��RY_�Ie��URao���HI��LHUY�SIJUU

[�LeJ�JI�Ie��HS��LQ�j��R��S�LO�ILaO�[�L[��I_k�deJS�RKLJYS�Ie���RIRSI�L[eJ��S��OR�JL�IeRI�Ie��̂LHS�

K��SJLO�aLHUY����RI�k�

PUIeLHge�IeJS�JS�R�eHg��J�[�LK���OI��JI�SIJUU�U�RK�S�R�S��JLHS�[�L�U���aJIe�Ie���JUUk�de���L��JII��

R��OY��OI�U�RK�S�JOIR�I�[�LKJSJLOS�LQ�Ie��̂LHS��K��SJLO�IeRI�R���JOI�OY�Y�IL�[HOJSe�UL�RU�LQj�JRUS

aeL��Rr��Ie���JSIRr���eLa�K���JOOL��OIU_��LQ�I�_JOg�IL��OR�I�RO�L�YJORO�����gHURIJOg�[LSS�SSJLO�LQ

j��R��S�LO�ILaO�[�L[��I_k�

deLS��[�LKJSJLOS�aLHUY��R�LOg�LIe���IeJOgS��SH����I�R��HOJ�J[RUJI_�IL�jO�S��UJsHJYRI�Y�YR�Rg�S�LQ

���������ROY�RIIL�O�_�Q��S�QL���K�O�RO�JOOL��OI�KJLURIJLO�LQ�Ie��SIRIHI�k��I�aLHUY����� -�#$�$ !$�IeRI

JO��OR�IJOg�Ie��L�YJORO������gHURIJLO��L���HU���Ie����HOJ�J[RUJI_��aRS�R�IJOg�JO�gLLY�QRJIe�L��H[LO�Ie�

RYKJ���LQ��LHOS�Uk��P��rOLaJOg��KJLURIJLO�LQ�Ie��SIRIHI��aLHUY�SH����I�R��HOJ�J[RU�LQj�JRU�IL

�I���JORIJLO�LQ���[UL_��OI�L���LOI�R�I�L�����LKRU�Q�L��LQj���0<�%&$�1-3$. -.��R[[R��OIU_�LO�Ie�

gLK��OL�iS�LaO�JOJIJRIJK��ROY�aJIe�OL��HYJ�JRU�[�L��SSk�deJS�[�ORUI_�YL�S�OLI��GJSI�QL��RO_�LIe��

LQQ�OS���JO�UHYJOg�Ie���LSI�S��JLHS�Q�ULOJ�S��ROY�JI�JS�[RI�OIU_�HO�LOSIJIHIJLORUk�

ZHOJ�J[RU�LQj�JRUS��LQ��LH�S���R����LSIU_�KLUHOI���S�aeL�R���OLI�U�gRU��G[��IS�ROY��K�O�U�gRU��G[��IS

LQI�O�YJSRg����R�LHI�Ie����ROJOg�LQ�R�SIRIHI��L��Ie���GI�OI�LQ�UL�RU�RHIeL�JI_k���SLUKJOg�Ie��R��JgHJI_

JS�Ie���L��LQ�Ie���LH�IS��ROY�JI�JS�JO�KJIR�U��IeRI��HOJ�J[RUJIJ�S�aJUU�L��RSJLORUU_����Y�I���JO�Y�IL�eRK�

�G���Y�Y�Ie�J��RHIeL�JI_k�de������Y_�ae�O�IeJS�eR[[�OS�JS�SJ�[U_�IeRI�Ie��L�YJORO���JS

HO�OQL���R�U�k�̀L�LO��JS�jO�Y�L�����LK�Y�Q�L��LQj��k�de��[����Y�OI�IeJS��JUU�aLHUY�S�I��LQ�[HOJSeJOg

UL�RU�LQj�JRUS�QL��[����JK�Y����L�S�JO�[��QL��JOg�Ie�J��U�gJSURIJK��QHO�IJLOS��JS�RUR��JOg��HSI�RS�R�URa

IeRI�[�ORUJq�S�SIRI��U�gJSURIL�S�QL��[RSSJOg�RO�HO�LOSIJIHIJLORU��JUU�aLHUY����RUR��JOgk�



�

�

��������	
������������

�����������������

�������������

��� !"# "$%&&%'!()"*#+"','-%./�!�

�0��1�

��2�3�22���14�50����62����7��25��5�2���
���
��8�0�25�
�54�5�9����
���
�	�����7��5�50�5�9�

0����������2����1�8�����:���
�	�����7��52�������5�50�����74��8�25�5��	�����7��5�����20�6
����5�1�

5���5���50�5�9�4���0��;���5��<6������4���77�55��=2��7���7��5��2���25�3����50����	05������5���>�165�9�

1�
�����50��;���5������2�5��5������50���25�3�14?�5�
��25?��7����	�50���88��2����3���
54

3����2���2�8��7�50��1�

��

@* �A "%$ �B'..���$ ��"�$* �C+D','%!E�F�##'$$  G(�! ,�## "D%$'�"��"�H D" (D%EI�C%"+%!E�J/��K�

0�����2���2���5��2�5���88�����L�����7���7��5�50�5�9�6
����7����50��3���
54�3����2���2�8��7�MN

OPQI�165�����

4�50�4�9�

�R625��

�50��1�

��S. %( �%(T�E�+!�( "%$�!�$����$ �$��T'..�MN�OPQ��!I�%$�$* �� !E

. %($I�$��(+--�!$�%"�%# "D# "$�$*%$�! #�� (�$* �- "%.$E�-!��'('�"(/

U
��5����V�

2��������5���;5�	�

W5=2�����
��5����4���>�����9�50�50�5���7�����671����8�1�

2���
�5���5��0�9���9���7320�����6�2

�
��5���2��K����������MN�XPYZ>���[6����	>��7��	��50���50��	2>�0������6�52�����

��
��5���2>���

N+.. $'"�\X>������8�50��9��25�1�

2�50�5�9�=���2����50�2�
�	�2
�5����2�22���>�165��5=2���5�50����
4�����

K0�
��50�����������671����8�5��61
��	�1�

2>�9�=

�0�	0
�	05�50�������3��5��6
���]�

MN�XOĴ�3��0�1�52���4��
��5�����8_���
>��50���50���50���
��>�8��7�3��8��7��	���4��
��5�����65��2�����
��5������4�90���50���8_���
��33���2����50�

1�

�5�8�����4�3�2�5���>�������[6���2�26�0��8_���
2�5����7�����652����50��3�

��	�3
�����̀��35�90�����5��	��W��3���5���>��8�����5��>�50�2�1�

�7���2

50�5�76����3�
�5��2�9�

�_���50�5�7��4��8�50�����6
4��
��5����
��5�����8_���
2�9�

�1��2�55��	��65�7��4��8�50�����
��5���2��W��50����2���8�50�

7�����5��>�8����̀�73
�>�50���8_��=2�59�a4����5��7�7���2�50�5�50���
��5���7�����5���9�

���
4�1���
�	�1
��5��3��2���������5�9���
��5���2�0�
8��8

50��5�7���bc����8�50��5�9��7�����5����
2��2����2��2�50��2�0��
���25���5�7�����5��>��2��2�50����2�����7��4�5�9�2>��5��2�3�22�1
��50�5�50��7�����5��

��6
��1����2[6�
�_���8��7�3��2����	��5�����4�5�9���
��5���>���3�����	����90�50���50��2�0��
���25���5�7�����5��=2�5��7��2�8������>�59�>����50���

4���2�d

MN�XZeJ�����5�2���3�����6���8���50�������5�����

��8���4�
���
��
��5����8_���
�2�����	����a4����5��7��c
50�6	0�50��1�

�
�7�52�90�������

�3�5�5���2

7�4�1��_
�������50��36�3�2�2�8���90��0�50�4�7�4�1��_
��>�2�7��
�7�5�5���2�������	6������9�

���[6����
�5�	�5����5��2�55
��������0��������6�
���2�>

����50������5����
��̀3��2���8�0�
���	�������

��
��5����9�

�25������
����4�5�	05�76����3�
�16�	�52�

MN�XJYQ��

�92���4���	�25�������5���5��1���	�26�5����263��������6�5��	���25���4�76����3�
��
��5�����8_���
�8���8��
6���5��3��8��7�0�2����0����
��5���

�65��2��W8�50����5���3�����
2>�50���8_���
�9�

�1����7�����8��7��8_�������50��76����3�
�54�7625�3�4�50����5��=2��55����4=2�8��2�������6�5���252�

��50��	����50��1�

�2����2��2����0����	���25���̀�5��62�
�5�	�5���>����
6���	�26�52�14�����5����

�	��	���������5���6�5��	��8�1�

�52��8�0�2f0���3��8�����

�������5�����2���5�9����

���5���
4>�50�����������671����8��50����
��5���a��
�5���1�

2�50�5�9��������3��	�����4�����50�2�
�	�2
�5����2�22���>�165�50�2��8�6���33����5��1��50��7�25

5��61
��	��S. %( �,�"$%,$�E�+!�. �'(.%$�!(�g�-%!$',+.%!.E�'&�$* E�( !� ��"�$* �M�+( �h. ,$'�"�i%B�F�##'$$  �g�%"D�%(T�$* #�$����$ �$��! ,�## "D

$* ( �&�+!�j'..(�kl" m- D' "$�$��i �'(.%$ /n

o35�7�p��	�V����1����V�����	�c33����
2

o��@+ (D%EI�C%"+%!E�XXI��5�XqPP�-/#/I����irN�s��#�XPO>�50��;���5��t���������77�55���9�

�0����5�25�7��4����AN�uQO���0�2�1�

�9�6
���

�9�5�9�2�50�5

0����8��7�������776����5���2���25���5�6�����v;c��0�35�����aw�5���33�������1�����5���23����
�5�9��7��5��	���6����5
4>�5�9�2����=5��33��3���5��7���4>

���
6���	��33�����	�1���2>��̀��35��5�������6�
�7��5��	?�6�
�22��5�
��25�0�
8�50��5�9�=2���5��2�20�9�63>����6�
�22�50��2�
��57���0����3�5�5������50�

263��������6�5����50��1�2�2��8����x�7��	���4y��̀�25��	��c2����50����̀��35�����2�
��
4�5��9������50����2���8�1����1����1�����	>�50�2��0��	���2��������5�

0�
3�76����3�
�5��2�5��������5�	���8�50�������62�8�����
�����25�5��86��2��
����4�����
�1
��8���1����1�����

W73�����	�1����1��������22>���
��1�
�54>�����23�����2���5�3�3�����54�8���7��4�76����3�
�5��2������9���7320���>�����AN�uQO�9�6
���

�9�50�7�5��7���

7����[6��
4�50����6����5�
�9��

�92��K�50������62�8�����
�����25�5��86��2��
����4�����
�1
��8���1����1���?����3�5��5��

4�7�������50��9�4?

76����3�
�5��2��������2������	�50��1�25��33����0�2�8�������25��	���������73�����	�1����1���>����
6���	�9����	�5�	�50���9�50�50����76����3�
����	01��2

5��8��7�����776����5���2���25���5���0�2�
�	�2
�5����9�6
���

�9�50�7�5��7����[6��
4����50�2��3��R��52�9�50�65�1���	���[6�����5��9��5�6�5�
�50������̀5

���6�
�5�9��7��5��	�5��3��2��5���3��3�2���1����1����1����5��50����5��2��

z6����3�
��8_���
2���5���25������50�2�
�	�2
�5����20�6
�����5��5�7�71��2��8�50��A "%$ �{'"%", �F�##'$$  �5���̀3��22�50����2633��5�8���AN�uQO>���

���2�����5�25�84��	��5�50��0�����	�

V�

�K�6
��v�3��
�xt�����7�8��7���2���7���5���y�:�9

o��C%"+%!E�Xu��5�XqZJ�-/#/����A$%$ �M�+( �s��#�XPP>�50��;���5��<6������4���77�55���9�

�0����5�25�7��4����AN�OPZ>���1�

�50�5�9�6
����3��
����

��3
����50��xv�	05�5��t�����7�8��7���2���7���5��������61
���K��3
���2�����U�6��5���y�
�9�50�5�9�2����
6��������V���
�25�2�22�����bc�2�3���5��1�

>�MN

XJQYI�9�6
��2�73
4���3��
�50��
�9�9�50�65���3
����	��5���0�5�1�

�0�2���5�4�5�1����2�0��6
���8�����0�����	�d��

c2�
�25�4���=2�������2�9�

�! ,%..>�50��xv�	05�5��t�����7�8��7���2���7���5��������61
���K��3
���2�����U�6��5���y�
�9�1�	����2��V����>�50��2�a��

��

x����2���������352y�1�

��c�1��������
�5���>����
6���	���zc>��33�2����V��������zc��33�2����5�8�����2�73
�����2��|�:���
�
�����2�����6��[6�
4�2�56�5��

5���33�����5��50���������2���������2��8�50������776��5��2�����20�6
��0����50���650���54�5���������0�9�5�������22�����5�
��1�65�50�2���226�2��5�50�


���
�
���
��

c
50�6	0��V�����9�2�5�1
��>���9�5����a��9�����2�����8�50�����5�����2��
�
��	6�	��9�2�3
���������V�����������56�

4�1���7��
�9�9�50�65�50��361
��

�����0����	�����33��56��54�5��9��	0�������50��7�����	��8�50��
��	6�	���



�����������	

	������������������	����	�������������	�������	�
����������
�����
���������������	��������������
��������������
����
��	�����	�����

��������
����	������������
����	����������������������������
�����	�������	�
��	����������������������
��������	�
���
 �!������������������	��	��������

���"����
����������������
�	�������
#���������������������	�������

���
�	��������������������
�������
�

���
#	�����
������������	����	�����
�

������
���������������������������������	�����	���������������	���������	�
�������	���	�����������	���
�	�������
�	�����"���������	����������
�
����

	�����	�����������������	����
 �$�	�������
�
��������������
���������������
��	�
���
�	�	��
�����	������������
 �

%&�'()�����	�
���	���	��	�������	��
����������	���	���
�	�������	����������������������
��������������������	�����������������������	�����������������*���

��
�����	��������������+������������	�����������	���
������������������
������	����,�����������
�	��-
����	�������
��	� �!��������	������	�������	�
����

	�������������	������������
�������
�����	
����	�-
�����
�	������������	���������
�������������������������.	��	���/��������	������������	�������

��
��������
����������%&�'() 

�	����
�0��������12������0���34��5����



�
�
�����������	������
�������
���������������	��������0��	����	
�	���	���
���������
����������������	����
����������������������6789:;<�=:8>:?;�@(A

$����	����	����������
������
�����������	���	�
��	����������
��������� ��
�������
����������������
�����������
���	����	�����
�������
��	�����
�

������������	����
���������	������	�����	�����������������
����������
����"-
��	����	���	����������"�������������.	��	���/B�	
����� �C���"���+�����"-


D���
�	��������������E������
����"-
���
���	����	������������
������
���#�����	������	����"��������FG8G?:H�I7>?J�KGLMNJGO�������	����
��������
���

������
� �

4���
����������
�	��������	��	�����
��	���0��	���������������	����
�����B����������������������
����	����������
��������������	����
��	����	
�������

	�
����������
���	����
����������	���	������������ �E!���	���������	�����������0��	�����	����
��������������
���	��� O�P����	��	�
��
������������������

����
�����������
�������������	�	��
��	�����������87�?GQ7JG�JGMJNQ78;�KNHH�LG�RG?QNJJG9A�ST�;7>�K:8J�J7�JGMJNT;�:J�:�UG:?N8V<�;7>�KNHH�8GG9�J7�:JJG89�N8

RG?M78A�

4�
��������
�	����������
���3�������
�	���	�	��	�����������FG8G?:H�I7>?J�KGLMNJG�������*D��"
������������0�������
 ,�P����	��
���������������	������

������������	�����������	����������	����������0��	�����	����
��������"����.	��	���/B �W������
��������������	����
�	���
��������������
���������	���

���
��������������
��	
����� �4�������	���	������
����
�����	
������	������-
�X�������������	��
�
�	�� 

2��������������
33D��	��$	+�2���������������������������
Y

��������	�����������	���
������������	��
�����2����������0�
����	��������������
��������������
���������������
�
�

��� �$�����
�������
�����Z&

@)@[��*$���5��������$	+�2��������������B���,��
�	��\Z6]�R7HN̂;�LNHH���	�������
�
������
�����	����������������
�	�������������������������������-
�
�	��

������	����
����������	������������
�����������.����/���B�_ ��
������
��������������
�	���
��	�̀ a���������
�	��������������� �$��
������
������
����

�	����	���	
�
�������
����������
�����
�	������
���������������������	�����	���
����������	� �

���������	�̀ a������������������������
���	����������b�̀ ̀�������������
�	����	���B�_����������
������	����

���	������
�	��-
�������	��_a���������
�	��

E�
���	����������b/�c��������O�����
��������������������
������	���	�������3������������������������	�����
�	�����������
��������	d�������������	��

�����	
����	�����	�������������.����/ �.�
��	
�����������	������������
�	���������������������	
�������������	+�
����
���	��������	��������������	��
�	��

��������������������������
�����������������������	+��������	���

�����
�	�� �

Z&�@([e������	
�
������	��3��������������������
����
��������	��
�����2����������0�
����E�20O��������
 ��$��
�����������������	
�������������

�����	���������f�����
��������"���	��	���20����������	�����"�����	���20��	������	�����������������	��	���	������_������
��������"�E	����	�����/�ffg

����
�������	�O �$��������	�
��������
������h3�	���	���������������������������������	������������������������	���20����������	�����"����	��	��3����

�	�	�������������
	������	��������20��������� �����
������
����
����	���
��	������	��������
�	������������	�����
���	�����������+�����������20

�������
���������	��3�������
�����
 �

W������������
����������������
��Z&�@ie(<�������	����������������
	����	������������������	��
�����2����������0�
�������������������	����������


���	�����������������
�	��������� ��!��������������	��	����
�	��������	��������������	��������	��	�
���������
�����������	������������	���������	����
�
�	��

������������������	������ ��
����������Z&�@ie(���������������������	�����
���	�����	����������
�
�������������������	������������	����-
�
�	���������

���������	���������	������ ��$�����
�3
�	�������������������	��
�	

������	����������	������������������
��������������������������	������	�����	�

��"�������������
�	�����	��������������	�����
���	�����	�������20�������
�����
�	����������	������ �j����������������������	
����������
�������

�����������������	����������
���	����������	�������
�����������
�����������	���������	����������
����������
�
����	��������� �$��
���������
����

	����

�����������	���������������������
����	�
���	�����	���������	�������������
������������
��������������������������
�
��� ��������������
�����


���� �

Z&�@i'i���������������	�/ a�����������
�3��3�������	�d�
������ECWD�O����	�������	��
�����2����������0�
����E�20O��������
������	�������

��������	����	
��a���	�
����.����/���B�_�����������
��b_B�BBB����	���������������-
�	���	��	����	��� �!���������	
��CWD���	

�������B/c�����

��
�������������
���������	�
��������������CWD�������	
��������+�
�����ba����������20������������	����������b̀h�������������
�	����	���B����	��

�������	�����
�	���
������������
��������/c f���������	�����	��������	
������������������	��������
����	� ��

!��������	�������	��CWD����
�
�����������������	�d�
���������������������������	��
���	�����"�����������.����/�������
���	��������	���	��
���


��
��������	�������
���	�������	������b/_a�������������
�	����	���B�g��b/_c�������������B�a��	���b/g��������������B�f���������	�����
������	������	���	+

�����	
�
 ��

!�����������������
�������
������������	�����	���������������
�
��	�������������	���
�������	����������������
#	��������	��������������������

�	+�	���
�������������
��������
 �kHG:MG�̂78J:̂J�;7>?�?GR?GMG8J:JNlGM�:89�:9l7̂:JG�T7?�JUG�MJ:JG�J7�?GMJ7?G�NJM�R?7QNMG�7T�:�̂78J?NL>JN78�J7�JUG
?GJN?GQG8J�M;MJGQA�4���
������	�������	�����
����������	�����	���������������	�������	��	���������	
�
�����������������
�
����
�	�������	�
��	�������	�
���	���	+�����	�
 

�����!�����C�	�������
��������	�
���	���.���
�������



����������	

���������	���������������������������	������������������������� �!"#�$%&"'((� )�$*+!�*,�-(�.%*/(��������	�����
�������������0

1�����������������2�����2������������������2����3	�������4��	����������	�����������
�����4	���������������5	��������������������������������

�������6���7����������2�����������������48���������91����������������9����0�

:����������6�8����6�����;<�=>?@������6����A�����������48��������7��5	���������0�;<�=>?@����
�����������6��������	����������������BCD�E@FGH�����

���7��5	����������������	�������4����4�����	��������������A��������������������
	����
��4�
�A�������������4�
	�������������	���6�����I�

������������4������������
����4��	����0J�K���������4	�������;<�=>?@�2����������������������������	�����������������������2�8�����������2���

�	����L�����������������������������6������������4�
���8������	�����������
����68���
	��������6���0�

-�(�"(�M*!'�M'�N*&%��(O�"��'*%"��!P��"/�'Q(��'*�"&RR*%'�;<�=>?@)

S�
���T�������

����������������������2��U���
��8�
	��������������������U���	���6	����������	��4���
���6����
�������0������������	

��80�

���2��������BCD�F=VDGW���3	�������3	�	
�4����	6����6�8���6����8������8����������������������������A����������
���������������X����������

I�
������80J����I�
������8J������A�������I�

�����������������
�������������������8���������������4���3	�	
�������������6�8�����������2���������

������4���
����3	�����������0J����I�
������8J���������
�����68�����������������������4A���0�

�����������
�8������������T�����YZYZ��[������\	�	�	������������������4��
������80�]������������������2�����
������	���
������8�������

����	�����������������X���6�������3	�	
�������8���������������3	���
�����4�S\��̂_L�̀Y0���������X��������4������������4��
������8����a	��

YZY_����������X�����4��������3	���
�����������������������2L��L2�������2���6��U�����44���0�

����	���������2������������6����������8�������������������
���
�������������	���������C<�FH#�����������������\������	����
	��8�������	�����4	���

���������8�����������S\��̂_L�̀Y�������������
���
�������0�]����8�����������������������
���
�������6�����b�;<�=?=c��C<�>WW������C<�>cc0�����	��

2���������4	����������
��
����2����6���������������8�����R�(�"(�"R(�/�'*�N*&%��(O�"��'*%"�d�R�%'�M&��%�N�N*&%�;*&"(��(�.(%"�d��.*&'�'Q(

��R*%'�!M(�*,�R%* �P�!O��&!�M�R���'�("�O%(�'(%�e(f�.���'N�+Q(!��'�M*�("�'*�R&.��M��(('�!O")

[���1����������g�T�7��h�����������i���8�i�����

g�T�7��6������������������������8�������������������	����2�80������A����������2����������	��������	�����������������	������������������������8

�

������0�]������

�������2���������2�����������������8����������	6
������68������4A����������
�U�����

�������������������������2����

2������������g�T��h�����������i���8�j�4����������\����
6��0�

k,�N*&��%(����*M���*,lM�����!��!�m;nD��(�.(%��&!�M�R���'N��!P��%(��!'(%("'(P��!�"(% �!O�*!�*!(�*,�'Q(�R*��MN�M*���''(("#�R�(�"(�M*!'�M'�'Q(

o* (%!�(!'�D,,��%"�"'�,,��'�E?>VWWcV@cc@�*%�O* (%!�(!'�,,��%"p!Q�&!�M�R��)*%O)�

q����4������

�������������2��������44����������4�
	�����������	��0�]����

������������������	65�����������������4��2�̀�

r�����������S����	��b�6	��������������	�����X��X�
��������	������	�����������������X�����������������
�������	������	������4	�����0�

[���������
���������������[���������b�����������S����L�Ls�2�h�2����6����2��
������������������2��4������	6������4��80�

1�4�����	��	����t�����
���������h����:���b�����u��v���	��2�������������������������	�����������8��������
���������	��������	�����

	����������������4���
��������
���������
���0�

K����8	��������	�������������������8	��A���������������������4�����

������������
���0�K��2������	��6���������

���������8��7��A���

�������6	��2�����������������������X�
����8��3	���
�
6��������
��������

������0�K�������������_wLYZ�
�
6������������

�����0�

]�����2����6����������v�������
�������4�������

���������x%�P�N#�DR%���=)��4����������������

������2����
�������������8����
��8���
�����

��������8��������2���������8����������������������y�8������8���������A���
�����������������������������T���8���r����8��6��2��������8����������

��������4�T�80

\������j�������


